IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC00-840

WILLIAM REAVES,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR INDIAN RIVER COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NEAL A. DUPREE Capital Collateral Regional Counsel Florida Bar No. 311545

WILLIAM M. HENNIS, III Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0066850

LAW OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-SOUTH 101 N.E. 3rd AVE., SUITE 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, Indian River County, entered the judgments of conviction and the sentences of death.

On October 8, 1986, an Indian River County grand jury returned an indictment charging Mr. Reaves with one count of first-degree murder (Count I), one count of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon (Count II), and one count of trafficking in cocaine (Count III) (R. 2051-2055). Thereafter, the State dismissed Counts II and III of the indictment (R. 2429, 2532).

Mr. Reaves' trial commenced in August, 1987 in Sarasota

County on a change of venue from Indian River County due to

excessive pre-trial publicity. A jury returned a verdict of

guilty. Mr. Reaves appealed his conviction and sentence to the

Florida Supreme Court. On January 15, 1991, Mr. Reaves

conviction was reversed because his former defense counsel had

subsequently become the state attorney who ultimately prosecuted

him. The mandate issued on April 1, 1991. Reaves v. State, 574

So. 2d 105 (Fla. 1991).

Mr. Reaves again proceeded to trial in February, 1992. This time, his case was tried in Marion County on a change of venue from Indian River County due to excessive pre-trial publicity. He was found guilty of first-degree murder and the jury recommended death by a vote of 10 to 2 (R. 1811, 2320).

Thereafter, the trial court sentenced Mr. Reaves to death (R. 2328-2334).

Mr. Reaves' death sentence was upheld on direct appeal from the second trial. Reaves v. State, 639 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1994).

The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on November 7, 1994. Reaves v. State, 115 S. Ct. 488 (1994).

Because Mr. Reaves' conviction and sentence became final after January 1, 1994, he was required to file his motion for post-conviction relief within one (1) year pursuant to the newly enacted Rule 3.851. Based on the overwhelming caseload experience by the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative (CCR), this Court granted Mr. Reaves an extension of time in which to file the instant motion, ordering that Mr. Reaves file by February 15, 1996. Pending a response, an initial incomplete Motion to Vacate was filed on February 15, 1996.

On October 5, 1998, during a status conference, the trial court ordered that a final 3.850 motion be filed by February 3, 1998. On January 29, 1999, the trial court issued an order based on undersigned counsel's unopposed motion for a two week extension, and Mr. Reaves motion was filed on February 17, 1999.

A hearing pursuant to <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1993), was held before the trial court on May 28, 1999. The trial court entered an order summarily denying the motion for post-conviction relief without an evidentiary hearing on February 9, 2000. Mr. Reaves motion for rehearing was denied on March 14, 2000, and this appeal followed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. Mr. Reaves is entitled to a full evidentiary hearing on all the claims raised in his Rule 3.850 motion. Mr. Reaves pleaded specific detailed claims for relief, including claims of ineffective assistance of counsel at the pre-trial, guilt and penalty phases of the trial, <u>Ake</u>, and <u>Brady</u> claims which are legally sufficient and are not refuted by the record.
- 2. The prosecutor engaged in inflammatory and improper comments and argument including violation of the "Golden Rule", references to Mr. Reaves' dangerousness in the future, and improper argument of facts not in evidence.
- 3. Mr. Reaves has been denied access to files and records in the possession of certain state agencies which pertain to his case.
- 4. Mr. Reaves is innocent of first degree murder and innocent of the death penalty and was denied adversarial testing.
- 5. Mr. Reaves' trial counsel unreasonably failed to act in Mr. Reaves' best interest after learning of juror misconduct from two female jurors after the trial and post-conviction counsel is prevented from investigating the allegations due to the trial court's failure to allow juror interviews.
- 6. Mr. Reaves was never afforded true cross-examination of witness Eugene Hinton because of the trial court's erroneous ruling that Hinton's testimony from Mr. Reaves' first trial could be read into the record because Hinton was unavailable.

- 7. Constitutional error occurred during the jury instructions and trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object.
- 8. The State's decision to seek the death penalty in Mr. Reaves' case was based upon racial considerations.
- 9. There were excessive security measures at Mr. Reaves' trial that call into question the fairness of his trial.
- 10. Florida's Capital sentencing statute is unconstitutional.
- 11. Mr. Reaves should receive a new trial due to the impact of cumulative error.
- 12. Mr. Reaves was denied an adversarial testing due to the presence of judicial bias.
- 13. The jury in Mr. Reaves' trial was not a fair cross-section of the community.
 - 14. Mr. Reaves is insane to be executed.

ARGUMENT I

MR. REAVES IS ENTITLED TO AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON HIS RULE 3.850 CLAIMS

A. ERRONEOUS SUMMARY DENIAL

Mr. Reaves' final Rule 3.850 motion was filed on February 17, 1999. He pleaded detailed issues and demonstrated his entitlement to an evidentiary hearing. However, on February 9, 2000, the lower court summarily denied Mr. Reaves' Rule 3.850 motion without granting a hearing on any portion of it. The lower court erred. The law strongly favors full evidentiary

hearings in capital post conviction cases, especially where a claim is grounded in factual as opposed to legal matters.

"Because the trial court denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing...our review is limited to determining whether the motion conclusively shows whether [Mr. Reaves] is entitled to no relief." Gorham v. State, 521 So.2d 1067, 1069 (Fla; 1988). See also LeDuc v. State, 415 So. 2d 721, 722 (Fla. 1982).

Some fact based claims in post conviction litigation can only be considered after and evidentiary hearing, Heiney v. State, 558 So.2d 398, 400 (Fla. 1990). "The need for an evidentiary hearing presupposes that there are issues of fact which cannot be conclusively resolved by the record. Where a determination has been made that a defendant is entitled to such an evidentiary hearing (as in this case), denial of that right would constitute denial of all due process and could never be harmless." Holland v. State, 503 So.2d 1250, 1252-3 (Fla. 1987). "Accepting the allegations . . .at face value, as we must for purposes of this appeal, they are sufficient to require an evidentiary hearing", Lightbourne v. Dugger, 549 So.2d 1364, 1365 (Fla 1989).

Mr. Reaves has pleaded substantial factual allegations including ineffective assistance of counsel, <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1967), and <u>Ake v. Oklahoma</u>, 105 S. Ct. 1087 (1985) violations which go to the fundamental fairness of his conviction and to the appropriateness of his death sentence. "Because we cannot say that the record conclusively shows [Mr. Reaves] is

entitled to no relief, we must remand this issue to the trial court for an evidentiary hearing." <u>Demps v. State</u>, 416 So.2d 808, (Fla. 1982).

Under Rule 3.850 and this Court's well settled precedent, a post conviction movant is entitled to evidentiary hearing unless the motion and the files and the records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief", Fla R. Crim. P. 3.850. See also Lemon v. State, 498 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1986); Hoffman v. State, 613 So.2d 1250 (Fla. 1987); O'Callaghan v. State, 461 So. 2d 1354, 1355 (Fla. 1984); Gorham. Mr. Reaves has alleged facts, which, if proven, would entitle him to relief. Mr. Reaves plead with greater specificity than was required by the case law, and appended the pleading with witness affidavits to bolster the guilt phase and penalty phase claims connected to substance abuse, although such is not a requirement under the law. Valle v. State, 705 So.2d 1331 (Fla. 1997). The files and records in this case do not conclusively show that he is entitled to no relief.

The trial court's denial of Mr. Reaves' Rule 3.850 motion flies in the fact of the clear requirements of the law. Its use of the record or files in this case do not show conclusively that Mr. Reaves is not entitled to relief. It thus ignores the express requirements of Rule 3.850 and the substantial and unequivocal body of case law from this Court holding that courts must comply with the Rule.

This Court has "no choice but to reverse the order under review and remand" Hoffman v. State, 571 So.2d 449, 450 (Fla. 1990), and order a full and complete evidentiary hearing on Mr. Reaves' Rule 3.850 motion.

B. INEFFECTIVENESS DURING PENALTY PHASE

In Mr. Reaves' capital penalty phase proceedings, substantial mitigating evidence, both statutory and non statutory was undiscovered, and never reached either the jury or the trial court. Mr. Reaves was thus sentenced to death by a jury and judge who knew very little about him. The unreliable death sentence is the resulting prejudice. As confidence in the result is undermined, relief is warranted., Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Hildwin v. Dugger, 654 So.2d 107 (Fla. 1995).

In <u>Strickland</u>, to establish a Sixth Amendment violation, a defendant must establish (1) deficient performance, and (2) prejudice. <u>Id</u>. at 687. Recently, the United States Supreme Court in <u>Williams v. Taylor</u>, 120 S.Ct. 1495 (2000), reemphasized the continuing vitality of the <u>Strickland</u> test and reiterated what the standards are with respect to capital cases and how they are to be properly applied. The Supreme Court makes it clear that Mr. Reaves "had a right--indeed a constitutionally protected

¹The Supreme Court granted relief to Mr. Williams, the first time the Court has granted relief on the basis of ineffective assistance of counsel as to the penalty phase of a capital case. As demonstrated by the record of Mr. Reaves' postconviction proceedings. Mr. Reaves' case is even stronger than Mr. Williams' and his entitlement to relief is clearly established under the Williams decision.

right—to provide the jury with the mitigating evidence that his trial counsel either failed to discover or failed to offer."

Williams, 120 S.Ct. at 1513. Counsel in a capital case has a duty to conduct a "requisite, diligent investigation" into his client's background for potential mitigation evidence. Id. at 1524. See also id at 1515 ("trial counsel did not fulfill their obligation to conduct a thorough investigation of the defendant's background"); State v. Riechmann, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S163 (Fla. Feb. 24, 2000) ("an attorney has a strict duty to conduct a reasonable investigation of a defendant's background for possible mitigating evidence"). "It seems apparent that there would be few cases, if any, where defense counsel would be justified in failing to investigate and present a case for the defendant in the penalty phase of a capital trial." Id.

It is abundantly clear that trial counsel, who was also appellate counsel, failed to conduct the "requisite, diligent" investigation into Mr. Reaves' background to unearth available and plentiful mitigation. <u>Williams</u>, 120 S.Ct. An evidentiary hearing, followed by relief, is warranted.

1. The mental health experts

Trial counsel never sought the assistance of experts in addictionology, psychopharmacology, neuropsychology, psychiatry, or an expert who personally had the unique experience of an African-American Vietnam Veteran. He was therefore unable to explain to the trial court or the jury the complexities of Mr. Reaves' psychological condition before and at the time of the

offense and how it played a role in putting Mr. Reaves on trial for his life. Experts in all of these areas were retained by post-conviction counsel and would have been available to testify at an evidentiary hearing. They also would have been available at the time of Mr. Reaves' trial in 1992.

The trial attorney's closing argument at the penalty phase failed to specifically address mitigating circumstances. 2299-2312). The jury was later instructed on mitigating circumstances F.S. 921.141(6)(b), (6)(f) and (7)(h). (R. 2315). Trial counsel only alluded to the fact that Mr. Reaves' drug abuse was somehow tangentially related to his combat experience Trial counsel failed to elucidate how Mr. Reaves' in Vietnam. polysubstance abuse in conjunction with his war trauma related post-traumatic stress disorder was integrally related to the alleged capital offense. Had counsel presented the critical psycho-social history evidence at the penalty phase through competent experts who had access to proper background materials, Mr. Reaves' childhood struggles with abject poverty and racism, and his valiant heroism as an African-American fighting for his country in a brutal and unpopular war, he would have convinced the jury and the judge to find statutory and non-statutory mitigation and to impose a life sentence.

Judge Balsiger's 1992 sentencing order failed to find any statutory mitigating factors. (R. 3009-36). Specifically, in regard to Dr. Weitz's testimony finding that Mr. Reaves was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional distress at the time

of the offense, he rejected Dr. Weitz's theory that Mr. Reaves was suffering from Vietnam Syndrome, citing Dr. Weitz's testimony that "the Vietnam Syndrome was not a disorder recognized within the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual III-R, the authoritative manual used throughout the medical and psychological communities." (R. 3017). In regard to the mitigating factor concerning the defendant's ability to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law, Judge Balsiger limited his findings to evidence involving Mr. Reaves use of cocaine. He found that "as a matter of law and fact that this mitigating circumstance has not been reasonably established." (R. 3019-21).

The order summarily denying an evidentiary hearing finds that "the fact that collateral relief counsel now has experts who will testify that the Defendant suffers from post-traumatic stress disorder, brain damage, and drug addiction, does not establish that the original evaluation was deficient." (PCR. 1095). As the lower court observed later in the same order, Dr. Weitz testified that Mr. Reaves suffered from poly-substance abuse, anti-social personality disorder, and "Vietnam Syndrome" at the time of the murder, and further, that he ultimately testified at the penalty phase that Mr. Reaves committed the murder while he was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance, and that Mr. Reaves' ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was impaired. (PCR. 1099). However, Judge Balsiger made credibility findings against

the testimony of defense expert Weitz and found no statutory mitigation to be present.

Dr. Weitz testified at the 1992 trial about the DSM-III-R, the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, agreeing that it was the "authoritative source" used by psychologists and psychiatrists across the United States to diagnose people with mental disorders. (R. 2075)(emphasis added). He further testified that he never diagnosed Mr. Reaves with the psychiatric disorder post traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), an Axis I anxiety disorder in the DSM-III-R criteria, but only with "Vietnam Syndrome" a lesser condition not listed in the DSM-III-R. (PCR. 2020). Neither the State nor the trial counsel ever asked Dr. Weitz what DSM-III-R criteria he believed were missing for a diagnosis of PTSD. This was a telling omission because Judge Balsiger's sentencing order focused precisely on the absence of a DSM-III-R diagnosis of PTSD as the reason for his rejection of Dr. Weitz's testimony that "Vietnam Syndrome" was an important component of Weitz's opinion that Mr. Reaves was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the offense. (R. 3017).

Dr. Weitz confirmed that he had never personally served in combat. (R. 2101). Dr. Weitz testified that in 1987 he diagnosed Reaves with an DSM-III-R Axis I diagnosis of cocaine abuse and an Axis II diagnosis of anti-social personality disorder after performing a psychological test, the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI), and conducting a

clinical interview. (R. 2040-42). He added that after seeing Reaves again in 1991 and re-administering the MMPI, he modified his diagnosis to Poly-drug abuse on Axis I, but still considered his Axis II diagnosis of anti-social personality disorder to be accurate. (R. 2043). He described the Axis II diagnosis of anti-social personality disorder as his principal diagnosis. (R. 2043).

Dr. Weitz then provided a description of what the diagnosis of anti-social personality meant:

"Anti-social personality" describes a series of characteristics and behaviors, essentially their criteria which has to be met in order to utilize the diagnosis. Typically, antisocial personalities involve individuals who are engaged in a variety of anti-social activities. They do not conform to society rules and regulations. They have be highly manipulative of other individuals and use other people for their own purposes. typically do not have very strong or intimate relationships in terms of emotional closeness with people. Oftentimes they get involved with a series of criminal behaviors. range of behaviors could be described as destructive in terms of the community. Typically, however, they seem to come out of it oftentimes with little learning from their own previous activities. That is, they don't seem to learn from the consequences of their behavior.

(R. 2042) (emphasis added).

Dr. Weitz's testimony about Mr. Reaves' alleged personality disorder was contradicted by testimony from the State's expert psychiatrist, Dr. Cheshire, who indicated that he did not agree with the anti-social personality disorder diagnosis of Dr. Weitz. Dr. Cheshire testified that his opinion was that Mr. Reaves was

not suffering from any psychiatric illness, including DSM-III-R Axis II anti-social personality disorder, but rather was exhibiting adult anti-social behavior. (R. 2231). Adult Antisocial Behavior is referenced in DSM-III-R as:

...in the category Conditions Not
Attributable to a Mental Disorder, should be
considered when criminal or other aggressive
or antisocial behavior occurs in people who
do not meet the full criteria for Antisocial
Personality Disorder and whose antisocial
behavior cannot be attributed to any other
mental disorder.

DIAGNOSTIC AND STATISTICAL MANUAL OF MENTAL DISORDERS (THIRD EDITION REVISED) American Psychiatric Association, 1987, at 344.

Mr. Reaves pleaded in his Rule 3.850 motion that he had retained the services of a neuropsychologist, a black Vietnam veteran psychologist specializing in post traumatic stress disorder, a substance abuse expert, and that those experts would testify as to the presence of both statutory and non statutory mitigating circumstances. (PCR. 338-39, 498-99, 491-92). Counsel also pointed out in the pleading and in a proffer at the Huff hearing that the expert psychologist retained by postconviction counsel would refute the diagnosis of anti-social personality disorder found by Dr. Weitz:

Claim five is really what's called an Ake claim, A-K-E, and it discusses whether Dr. Weitz performed a competent mental health evaluation of Mr. Reaves and the Ake claim also includes whether counsel provided adequate mental health evaluation at all. So it's not just Dr. Weitz, but it's also not having a neuropsychologist, and not having an expert, an addictionologist along with Dr. Weitz specifically, deficiencies in that he

failed to conduct certain tests to discover that Mr. Reaves was P.T.S.D. at the time and those tests were available at the time and he did not do those tests that were available and that our expert who has used and has determined that Mr. Reaves actually has posttraumatic stress disorder. Our expert is also a black male. There are issues surrounding, which I've alleged in my pleading, surrounding antisocial personality and, Your Honor, clearly Mr. Reaves is not antisocial personality disorder. There is lots of evidence out there where experts have confused post-traumatic stress disorder with antisocial personality. There's also an ethnic problem there with diagnosing more black people with antisocial personality disorder and Mr. Reaves' own statement that he gives where he has remorse. He calls the officer one of the finest officers. He doesn't know why he did it. Antisocial personality disorder people do not show remorse. So I think there was a real problem with that diagnosis from Dr. Weitz in the fact that lack of testing, wrong diagnosis, and not performing a full battery of tests that were available to him as well as counsel not having other experts that could have been used at trial, guilt phase and penalty phase.

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