IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM REAVES,

Appellant,

VS.

Case No. 00-0840

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE NINETENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,

IN AND FOR INDIAN RIVER COUNTY, FLORIDA

AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CELIA A. TERENZIO
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO.0656879
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD.
SUITE 300
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409
(407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

The state asserts that given the sensitive nature of this claim, appellants are required to pled their claim with greater specificity and attach affidavits which demonstrate personal knowledge. See <u>Harbour Island Security v. Doe</u>, 652 So. 2d 1198 (2d

Huff v. State, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

 $^{^{17}}$ The state does note that at the <u>Huff</u> hearing, counsel explained that mistakenly she forgot to include the source of the information, i.e., trial counsel Mr. Krischner. (PCR 309).

DCA 1995) (recognizing strong policy against allowing for juror interviews); Johnson v. State, 593 So. 2d 206, 210 (Fla. 1992) (announcing "this Court cautions against permitting jury interviews to support post-conviction relief for allegations such as those made in this case."); see also Sconyers, 513 So. 2d at 1117 (cautioning, "[1]et there be no mistake, misinterpretation or misconstruction—this opinion is not to be read as opening 'Pandora's box' to permit interviews of jurors on matters which inhere in the verdict."); Gilliam, 582 So. 2d at 611 (finding that appellant's failure to attach affidavits to motion to interview jurors warranted denial of the request). Reaves' decision not to even identify the jurors or give any greater detail other than to say the juror was discussing appellant's guilt should be meet with skepticism.

Additionally, although not specifically raised below, any discussion among jurors regarding appellant's guilt regardless of its timing, is a matter which inheres in the verdict and is not subject to inquiry. Cf. Ray Cooke Enterprises v. Parsons, 627 So. 2d 1267 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (explaining that alleged confusion or misunderstanding regarding judge's instructions was speculative and would involve an improper inquiry into matters that inhere in the verdict); Rabun and Partners v. Ashoka Enterprises, 604 So. 2d 1284, 1285 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995) (ruling that it was inappropriate to allow for juror interviews based on allegation that jury relied on impermissible reasons for their verdict); Metropolitan Dade Cty. V. McKenzie, 555 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990) (prohibiting juror

interviews based on allegation that racial bias played role in deliberations). Summary denial was appropriate.

ISSUE VI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING PROCEDURALLY BARRED THE ISSUE OF MR. HINTON'S UNAVAILABILITY AND THE READING OF HIS PRIOR TRIAL TESTIMONY IN REAVES' RETRIAL (restated).

For the first time in postconviction litigation, Reaves asserts the trial court erred when it found Erman Eugene Hinton ("Hinton") "unavailable" for trial and permitted his prior testimony to be admitted in the retrial as substantive evidence Additionally, Reaves challenges this Court's finding of harmless error on direct appeal arising from the admission of Hinton's prior testimony without those portions showing his inconsistent statements. These procedurally barred issues were denied properly.

In cases where there has been a summary denial, the standard of review is de novo for pure questions of law. Demps v. State, 761 So.2d 302 (Fla. 2000) (applying de novo review to trial court's summary denial based upon finding claim was one raised on direct appeal). "To uphold the trial court's summary denial of claims raised in a 3.850 motion, the claims must be either facially invalid or the record must conclusively refute them." Occhicone v. State, 768 So.2d 1037, 1041 (Fla. 2000). Under this standard, the instant summary denial should be affirmed.

Although Reaves now challenges Hinton's "unavailability", he conceded that point on direct appeal. This precludes relitigation of the issue now. Reaves is procedurally barred from raising the

issue here as a trial court error. <u>Medina v. State</u>, 573 So.2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990) (finding rule 3.850 motions may not be used as second appeal).

On direct appeal, Reaves contended it was reversible error not to admit Hinton's inconsistent statements. This Court agreed, however, found the error harmless. Reaves v. State, 639 So. 2d 1, 3-4 (Fla. 1994).

In an attempt to relitigate the issue of whether the trial court should have admitted Hinton's inconsistent statements in hopes that this Court will change its determination on the matter and find harmful error, Reaves claims this Court overlooked a myriad of possible reasons, however, each is nothing more than factors inherent in this Court's harmless error analysis. Inasmuch as the issue of Hinton's prior inconsistent statements was resolved on direct appeal, it may not form a basis for postconviction relief. Medina, 573 So.2d at 295. This Court should affirm the trial court's decision that the matter is procedurally barred. Medina v. State, 573 So.2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990) (finding rule 3.850 motions may not be used as second appeal).

ISSUE VII

SUMMARY DENIAL OF REAVES' CLAIM CHALLENGING THE PENALTY PHASE INSTRUCTIONS WAS PROPER (restated).

Here, Reaves challenges his sentence of death based upon (1) use of certain aggravating circumstances, (2) undermining of jurors' sentencing responsibility, (3) burden shifting, and (4) the expert testimony instruction. These issues were rejected summarily

(PCR Vol. 12 1096-98). Such was appropriate as they were procedurally barred and/or legally insufficient. This Court should affirm the trial court.

In cases where there has been a summary denial, the standard of review is de novo for pure questions of law. Demps v. State, 761 So.2d 302 (Fla. 2000) (applying de novo review to trial court's summary denial based upon finding claim was one raised on direct appeal). "To uphold the trial court's summary denial of claims raised in a 3.850 motion, the claims must be either facially invalid or the record must conclusively refute them." Occhicone v. State, 768 So.2d 1037, 1041 (Fla. 2000). Under this standard, the instant summary denial should be affirmed.

Reaves asserts that over his objection, the jury was instructed improperly on: (1) prior violent felony, (2) murder committed to disrupt/hinder law enforcement, and (3) murder committed to avoid arrest. This claim is procedurally barred. Trial counsel requested a doubling instruction and sought to preclude the giving of instructions on "avoid arrest" and "hindrance of a law enforcement officer" in addition, in his sentencing memorandum, challenging reliance upon these aggravators (ROA Vol. XVIII, 2748, 2764-70; Vol. XIX, 2944, 2959, 2975-76). The trial court rejected the request to give a doubling instruction under Suarez v. State, 481 So.2d 1201, 1209 (Fla. 1985), and Valle v. State, 581 So.2d 40, 47 (Fla. 1991). (ROA Vol. XV, 2254-56). Yet, Reaves failed to assert an "improper doubling" claim on direct appeal, although he could have done so. Because the claim could

have been raised on appeal, it is procedurally barred in a motion for postconviction relief. <u>See Suarez v. Dugger</u>, 527 So.2d 190, 194 n.3 (Fla. 1988) (finding identical claim barred). This Court should affirm.

Seeking relief, Reaves contends the trial court's failure to include this Court's limiting instruction with the "avoid arrest" instruction resulted in the aggravator being "broadly applied." He also contends the HAC instruction was facially vague and overbroad. Both claims are barred.

On direct appeal this Court opined that reliance on the "HAC" factor was harmless error and that there was sufficient evidence to sustain the finding of the aggravating factor of "avoid arrest."

Reaves, 639 So.2d at 6 n.11. As such, this Court determination precl; udes any further review. See Muhammad v. State, 603 So. 2d 488, 489 (Fla. 1992). Cf. Jennings v. State, 583 So.2d 316, 323 n.3 (Fla. 1991) (finding challenges to HAC and CCP instructions procedurally barred). "Proceedings under rule 3.850 are not to be used as a second appeal." Medina v. State, 573 So.2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990).

Here, Reaves claims section 921.141(5), Florida Statutes, which enumerates the aggravating factors, is unconstitutional on its face (Initial Brief 64). He challenged the statute below and challenged the instruction on direct appeal on page 86 of his initial direct appeal brief. Clearly, the matter is barred. "Proceedings under rule 3.850 are not to be used as a second

appeal." Medina v. State, 573 So.2d at 295. Furthermore, this claim is without merit. This Court has repeatedly upheld the constitutionality of the death penalty statute. E.g., Pooler v. State, 704 So.2d 1375, 1380-81 (Fla. 1997). The trail court's denial was proper and this Court should affirm.

It is Reaves' claim the trial judge's application of the aggravating factor "victim was a law enforcement officer" constituted an <u>ex post facto</u> violation and although the trial court did not find this aggravator, the jury was permitted to consider it in making its sentencing recommendation. Reaves also claims the aggravator is vague and changed the punishment he received.

In rejecting this contention the trial court reasoned the matter was procedurally barred (PCR Vol. 7, 1096-97). Such was a proper evaluation of the claim. As the trial court noted, and as admitted by Reaves here, trial defense counsel objected to the use of this aggravator. (ROA Vol. XIV 2183; Vol. XV 2254; Vol. XVIII 2803-08). Reaves could have, and should have, challenged on direct appeal the application of this aggravating factor. "Issues which either were or could have been litigated at trial and upon direct appeal are not cognizable through collateral attack." Muhammad v. State, 603 So. 2d 488, 489 (Fla. 1992). See, Parker v. Dugger, 537 So.2d 969 (Fla. 1988) (finding ex post facto challenge to application of CCP factor procedurally barred). "Proceedings under rule 3.850 are not to be used as a second appeal." Medina v. State, 573 So.2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990).

Regardless, the claim is without merit as this Court has rejected this challenge previously. E.g., Jackson v. State, 648 So.2d 85 (Fla. 1994) (finding application of "victim was law enforcement officer" aggravator did not violate ex post facto clause). Also, the trial judge found this aggravator doubled with the "avoid arrest" aggravator, and thus, refused to find its existence. (ROA Vol. XIX, 3015-16). As a matter of law, this claim is legally insufficient.

Reaves challenges the use of his two 1973 convictions for conspiracy to commit robbery and grand theft, claiming they were not felonies involving the use or threat of violence, and therefore, the trial court should not have used them to support the "prior violent felony" aggravating factor. Addressing the "prior violent felony" aggravator, in its sentencing order, the trial court found that violence was involved in the conspiracy to commit robbery and the grand theft convictions where Reaves had held guns to the heads of clerks at two area motels while demanding money (ROA Vol. XIX 3010-11). The third conviction involved the beating of a corrections officer by Reaves while he was awaiting trial on the instant murder (ROA Vol. XIX, 3011-12).

Clearly, this claim is procedurally barred. At the commencement of the penalty phase, Reaves sought to preclude the use of the 1973 convictions involving the conspiracy to commit robbery and grand theft at two area hotels (ROA Vol. XII 1829-34). Such was overruled (ROA Vol. XII 1833-34). Hence, Reaves, who admits his trial counsel had objected to the aggravator's use,

could have, and should have, challenged the court's findings and the instruction on direct appeal. Muhammad v. State, 603 So. 2d at, 489 (Fla. 1992). Also, the constitutionality of the "prior violent felony" aggravator was addressed and rejected on direct appeal where this Court found "no constitutional infirmity in the statute." Reaves, 639 So.2d at 6. Medina, 573 So.2d at 295.

Furthermore, the conclusory allegation raised below, and in this appeal, that "[t]o the extent trial counsel did not properly preserve this claim, Mr. Reaves received ineffective assistance of counsel" is legally insufficient and was rejected properly by the trial court. "Allegations of ineffective assistance cannot be used to circumvent the rule that postconviction proceedings cannot serve as a second appeal." Id. See Asay v. State, 769 So.2d 974, 989 (Fla. 2000) (finding "one sentence" conclusory allegation that counsel was ineffective is an improper pleading and attempt to relitigate procedurally barred claims); Freeman v. State, 761 So. 2d 1055, 1067 (Fla. 2000) (same); Rivera v. State, 717 So. 2d 477, 480 n.2 (Fla. 1998) (same). This Court should affirm.

Reaves also maintains the jurors' sentencing responsibility was undermined when the trial court instructed that their sentencing recommendation was advisory. This issue was raised and rejected on direct appeal as this Court noted, "We finally find no constitutional infirmity in the statute." Reaves, 639 So.2d at 6.

Clearly, the claim is procedurally barred and the trial court's order should be upheld. "Issues which either were or could have been litigated at trial and upon direct appeal are not

cognizable through collateral attack." <u>Muhammad v. State</u>, 603 So. 2d 488, 489 (Fla. 1992). Furthermore, the claim is meritless as this Court has repeatedly rejected identical claims. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Sochor v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 285, 291-92 (Fla. 1993) (opining, "Florida's standard jury instructions fully advise the jury of the importance of its role and do not violate <u>Caldwell</u>."). The trial court's finding that the claim was procedurally barred, and in the alternative, without merit should be affirmed.

Citing to State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973), cert. denied, 416 U.S. 943 (1974), Reaves maintains the penalty phase jury instructions improperly shift the burden to the defendant to prove whether he should live or die. As a second ground for relief, Reaves asserts his trial counsel failed to object below. The State disagrees that relief is warranted. Instead, it submits the trial court was correct in finding the substantive matter procedurally barred and the assertion of ineffective assistance of counsel to be legally insufficient and conclusory (R 1098). Moreover, the contention that Florida's capital sentencing scheme shifts the burden to the defense is meritless.

Challenges to the penalty phase jury instructions are matters which could have been raised on direct appeal and as such are procedurally barred from consideration in postconviction relief litigation. Occhicone v. State, 768 So.2d 1037, 1040 n.3 (Fla. 2000) (citing Buenoano v. Dugger, 559 So.2d 1116, 1118 (Fla. 1990); Gorham v. State, 521 So.2d 1067, 1070 (Fla. 1988). See Jennings v. State, 583 So.2d 316, 323 n.3 (Fla. 1991) (finding identical claim

procedurally barred). Additionally a "one-sentence" allegation of ineffective assistance will not overcome a procedural bar. See, Asay v. State, 769 So.2d 974, 989 (Fla. 2000) (finding "one sentence" conclusory allegation of counsel's ineffectiveness is improper pleading and attempt to relitigate procedurally barred claims); Freeman v. State, 761 So.2d 1055, 1067 (Fla. 2000) (same). As such, the trial court's summary denial was appropriate.

Finally, the claim was denied correctly, as the matter is without merit. Repeatedly, the claim of burden shifting in the penalty phase has been found meritless. See, Demps v. Dugger, 714 So.2d 365 (Fla.1998); Shellito v. State, 701 So.2d 837 (Fla.1997); Brown v. State, 565 So.2d 304, 308 (Fla.), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 992 (1990).

Reaves claims that the trial court erred in giving the expert witness instruction as it was an erroneous statement of the law. Reaves also asserts trial counsel's failure to object was ineffective assistance. The State submits the challenge to the instruction was one which could have been addressed on direct appeal, and having failed to raise it there, the matter is procedurally barred. Further, the one-sentence accusation of ineffective assistance is legally insufficient. Also, the challenge to the instruction is meritless. Occhicone v. State, 768 So.2d 1037, 1040 n.3 (Fla. 2000) (citing Buenoano v. Dugger, 559 So.2d 1116, 1118 (Fla. 1990); Gorham v. State, 521 So.2d 1067, 1070 (Fla. 1988); Asay, 769 So.2d at 989 (finding "one sentence" conclusory allegation that counsel was ineffective is an improper

pleading and attempt to relitigate procedurally barred claims); Freeman, 761 So. 2d at 1067 (same). As such, summary denial was appropriate.

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